# THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JOEL KISSLER,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

###

#### A. INTRODUCTION.

Before granting Joel Kissler's request to represent himself, the court told him he faced one Class B felony and the rest were Class C felonies with lesser penalties. This information was wrong. Later, the prosecution added two firearm enhancements but the court never told Mr. Kissler he faced substantial additional punishment from these new allegations. Mr. Kissler waived his right to counsel without understanding the potential punishment he faced if convicted.

Mr. Kissler objected to the prosecution's numerous requests for continuances, including one based on stand-by counsel's vacation even though Mr. Kissler was representing himself. The court granted each request without questioning the basis or length of the delay, thus denying Mr. Kissler his right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3.

Additionally, the court imposed two firearm enhancements even though it asked the jury to decide whether he possessed a "deadly weapon," which does not authorize the greater punishment attached to a firearm enhancement. The court also extended Mr. Kissler's community custody beyond the statutory maximum, without legal authority.

#### B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

- 1. Mr. Kissler was denied his right to a speedy trial by the court's failure to properly assess the requirements for granting continuances over defense objection under CrR 3.3.
- 2. Mr. Kissler did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22.
- 3. The court lacked authority to impose firearm sentencing enhancements when the jury only found Mr. Kissler possessed a deadly weapon.
- 4. The court impermissibly entered an alternative term of community custody that is not authorized by statute.

#### C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR.

1. CrR 3.3 provides strict criteria governing the court's authority to continue the time for trial over the defendant's objection.

Mr. Kissler objected to each continuance requested by the prosecution but the court did not assess the need for the continuance or the necessary length of the request, thereby violating CrR 3.3. Was Mr. Kissler denied his right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3?

- 2. An accused person's waiver of his right to counsel is presumed invalid and must be proved valid by affirmative evidence demonstrating the accused understood the nature of the charges he faced as well as the potential penalties if convicted. The accused must understand this information at the time he waives his right to counsel. When the court misstated the statutory maximum for one of the most serious charges Mr. Kissler faced and never informed him of the substantial increase in potential punishment that occurred when the prosecution added several firearm enhancements, has the prosecution met its burden of proving Mr. Kissler validly waived his right to counsel?
- 3. The court lacks authority to impose a firearm enhancement when the jury has found only that the accused person possessed a deadly weapon. The court instructed the jury to determine, by special verdict, whether Mr. Kissler possessed "a deadly weapon" based on the definition of a deadly weapon, but the court imposed two firearm sentencing enhancements. Did the court violate Mr. Kissler's right to a fair trial by jury when it imposed a punishment that the jury's verdict did not authorize?

4. Under RCW 9.94A.701(9) the trial court must impose determinate terms of community custody, and where the combined term of community custody and confinement exceeds the statutory maximum for an offense, the court must reduce the term of confinement. The court imposed a sentence of 120 months incarceration, the statutory maximum for a Class B felony, yet directed the Department of Corrections to calculate its own term of community custody based on the possibility of early release. Did the trial court lack statutory authority to impose the alternate term of community custody?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Joel Kissler was arrested after a friend, Kimber Wheeler, claimed he threatened her with a gun. 2RP 129<sup>1</sup>; CP 1-2. Ms. Wheeler never appeared for trial and the jury acquitted him of the charges of second degree assault while armed with a firearm and felony harassment involving Ms. Wheeler's accusations. CP 143-44.

Before arresting Mr. Kissler, the police saw him put a gun in a bucket. 2RP 181-82. Also inside the bucket, the police found a Crown

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The verbatim report of proceedings (RP) from trial is contained in three consecutively paginated volumes of transcripts and are referred to by the volume number of the cover page. All remaining transcripts from pretrial or sentencing proceedings are referred to by the date of the proceeding.

Royale bag that contained heroin. 2RP 136-37. Mr. Kissler had several Xanax pills in his pocket, also known as Alprazolam. 2RP 166-67; CP 4. In addition to the two charges involving Ms. Wheeler, he was charged with possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver for the heroin; unlawful possession of a firearm in the second degree; and unlawful possession of a controlled substance for the Xanax. CP 1-3. At trial, Mr. Kissler explained that these items belonged to Ms. Wheeler, who was homeless and drug-addicted, and he was removing them from his home because he did not want her staying in his apartment any more. 3RP 219-20, 222, 225-27.

At the first pretrial hearing, Mr. Kissler asked to represent himself. 9/11/12RP 1. He told the court he wanted to be more involved in his case. *Id.* at 2. The court read the names of the charged offenses, without referring to their elements. The court also told Mr. Kissler that the crime charged in Count 1 was a Class B felony, with a maximum of 10 years in prison and a \$20,000 fine. *Id.* at 4-5. The court advised Mr. Kissler that the rest of the charged offenses were Class C felonies, with a maximum sentence of five years. *Id.* at 5. The court did not mention that Count 3 was also a Class B felony, and its maximum punishment was 10 years in prison and a \$25,000 fine. After warning Mr. Kissler

against self-representation, the court found that he waived his right to counsel. *Id.* at 10. It directed the assigned attorney, Craig Kibbe, to act as stand-by counsel. *Id.* 

Several months later, the prosecution added firearm enhancements to Counts 3 and 5, the two drug offenses. CP 26-29. The court read the amended information but did not advise Mr. Kissler that the new charges increased his punishment by requiring consecutive terms of additional confinement and substantially increasing the standard range under RCW 9.94A.518. 12/27/12RP 2-6.

Mr. Kissler repeatedly objected to the prosecution's numerous requests to continue the trial. 9/11/12RP 11; 10/4/12RP 2; 11/27/12RP 2-3; 12/27/12RP 7; 1/17/13RP 4-5, 10; 1/31/13RP 3; 2/4/13RP 5-6. The court granted each request without inquiry into the availability of alternative dates. It also continued the trial when stand-by counsel was on vacation, even though Mr. Kissler objected to the continuance. 11/27/12RP 2. The court denied Mr. Kissler's motion to dismiss the case due to a violation of the time for trial required by CrR 3.3. 1/17/13RP 11.

After a jury trial, Mr. Kissler was convicted of possession of heroin with intent to deliver, unlawful possession of a firearm in the Second degree, and possession of a controlled substance involving Xanax. CP 145, 147, 148. For the two drug charges, the court instructed the jury to decide whether Mr. Kissler possessed "a deadly weapon," but the court imposed firearm enhancements. CP 193, 214, 217. The court also imposed 12 months of community custody, but because the consecutive firearm enhancements resulted in Mr. Kissler serving the statutory maximum, it noted on the judgment and sentence that the community custody term should not "exceed" the statutory maximum. CP 217. The relevant facts are further explained in the pertinent argument sections below.

#### E. ARGUMENT.

- 1. The unnecessary delay in bringing Mr. Kissler's case to trial, over his objection, violated his right to a speedy trial.
  - a. It is the court's obligation, and the State's duty, to bring a person to trial within the required time limits of CrR 3.3.

The right to "a speedy trial" is guaranteed by the Sixth

Amendment and article I, section 22 of the state constitution. *State v*.

*Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 290, 217 P.3d 768 (2009).<sup>2</sup> Article I, section 10 further dictates that "[j]ustice in all cases shall be administered . . . without unnecessary delay."

"The right to a speedy trial is 'as fundamental as any of the rights secured by the Sixth Amendment." *Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d at 290 (quoting *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 515 n.2, 92 S.Ct. 2182, 33 L.Ed.2d 101 (1972), *Klopfer v. North Carolina*, 386 U.S. 213, 223, 87 S.Ct. 988, 18 L.Ed.2d 1 (1967)). The "right has its roots at the very foundation of our English law heritage," where, "the delay in trial, by itself, would be an improper denial of justice." *Klopfer*, 386 U.S. at 223-24.

"A defendant has no duty to bring himself to trial; the State has that duty." *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 527. Because "society has a particular interest in bringing swift prosecutions, . . . society's representatives are the ones who should protect that interest." *Id*.

CrR 3.3 sets a definite time line in which a trial must occur. The purpose of CrR 3.3 is "to protect a defendant's constitutional right to a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Sixth Amendment states, "In all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial . . . ." Article I, section 22 similarly provides, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial."

speedy trial." *State v. Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009). Speedy trial rules ensure trials occur within a "reasonable period consistent with constitutional standards." *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 523.

The trial court must ensure a defendant receives a timely trial under the requirements of CrR 3.3. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 136; CrR 3.3(a)(1) ("It shall be the responsibility of the court to ensure a trial in accordance with this rule to each person charged with a crime."). A trial for a person who is held in custody must occur within 60 days of arraignment. CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i). Failure to comply requires dismissal of the charge with prejudice if the defendant timely objects. CrR 3.3(d)(3), (h).

b. Mr. Kissler's trial was delayed over his objection and without adequate cause while he waited in custody.

Under CrR 3.3(f)(2), the court may continue a trial to a specified date if it finds "such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." But the court may not simply declare that the delay is required in the "administration of justice." *State v. Saunders*, 153 Wn.App. 209, 220, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009). The court must first assess

the reasons for the delay and the prejudice to the defense. *Id*. The justification for the continuance must appear "on the record or in writing." *Id*.; CrR 3.3(f)(2).

In *Kenyon*, the trial court declared that the lack of an available judge was an unavoidable or unforeseen circumstance under CrR 3.3(e)(8). The Supreme Court ruled that a court's authority to continue a trial based on an unavoidable circumstance requires it to first try to ameliorate the problem. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 138-39. The failure to seek alternatives undermines the court's authority to extend the time for trial under CrR 3.3. *Id*.

Likewise, the court may not simply declare that the "administration of justice" permits further trial delay under CrR 3.3(f)(2). CrR 3.3(f)(2) authorizes the court to continue a case in the administration of justice only if it also finds "the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." *Saunders*, 153 Wn.App. at 220. The court may not ignore this mandatory requirement. *Id*. The failure to consider the prejudice to the defense undermines the court's authority to extend the time for trial under CrR 3.3. *See Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 138-39.

Mr. Kissler remained in custody throughout the pretrial proceedings in his case. *See, e.g.*, 9/11/12RP 1; 10/4/12RP 1; 12/27/12RP 1. He objected to each delay and made plain his desire to receive a timely trial, as detailed below. Instead of receiving a trial within the 60 days allowed under CrR 3.3, he waited in jail for almost six months. CP 1; 1RP 3. The State's case-in-chief involved one day of testimony, including opening statements, but the court granted numerous requests for lengthy extensions of time, over Mr. Kissler's express objection, and without following the requirements of CrR 3.3.

From the inception of the case, Mr. Kissler made plain his intent to proceed to trial immediately, without continuances. 9/11/12RP 11.

The trial was set for October 17, 2012, after he was arraigned on August 22, 2012, but on October 4, 2012, the newly assigned prosecutor asked for a continuance. 10/4/12RP 1; CP 1. Prosecutor Bryce Nelson said he was on vacation on the day of October 17, 2012, and had another trial set to begin on October 18, 2012. 10/4/12RP 1.

Rather than set Mr. Kissler's trial on October 18, 2013, in the event the prosecutor's other trial did not begin, the court granted the State's request to continue the trial until December 4, 2012. 10/4/12RP 1, 3.

Mr. Kissler objected to this delay. He asked that he not be penalized for the prosecution's lack of preparation and explained he was ready to proceed. 10/4/12RP 3. The court cursorily explained that "under the court rules and case law" the delay was justified. *Id*. The court never explained why it did not set the case for an earlier date in the event that the prosecution's potential trial set for October 18, 2012, did not begin as scheduled. *Id*.

Shortly before the December 4, 2012 trial date, the prosecution requested another continuance over Mr. Kissler's objection.

11/27/12RP 1. The assigned prosecutor was about to start a trial in another case and this trial would go "into" the start of December. *Id*.

This may have been the same trial the prosecutor had anticipated in mid-October, as both involved a rape allegation. 10/4/12RP 1;

11/27/12RP 1. The prosecutor also announced that stand-by counsel,

Craig Kibbe, was on vacation from December 17 through December 24,

2012. 11/27/12RP 1. The prosecutor asked the court to set the trial date as January 7, 2013, without further explanation. *Id*.

Stand-by counsel Kibbe explained that Mr. Kissler was representing himself and that Mr. Kissler objected to the continuance. 11/27/12RP 2. Mr. Kissler also asked if the prosecutor could be

replaced so the trial could begin. *Id.* He complained that the prosecution was unprepared, not him. *Id.* at 2-3. The court ruled that Mr. Kissler had not shown he would be prejudiced by the delay and cursorily stated that the continuance was "justified and required by the court rules and the case law." *Id.* at 3. The court did not explain what case law it was referring to and did not address how stand-by counsel's vacation could be used to justify a continuance over Mr. Kissler's objection.

On December 27, 2012, the prosecution again asked for a continuance of the January 7, 2013 trial date, seeking postponement until January 31, 2013, because it was not prepared. 12/27/12RP 1. The prosecution filed an amended information, adding two firearm enhancements. CP 26. It admitted that it had not yet tested the drugs or firearm at issue in the case. *Id.* at 6; Supp. CP \_, sub. no. 23. It stated it needed more time to conduct this testing. The prosecution offered no explanation about why the testing of the evidence had not yet occurred. 12/27/12RP 6, 9.

Although Mr. Kissler objected and asked for a different prosecutor who could begin the trial, the court ruled that Mr. Kissler had not shown prejudice and the prosecution had shown justification for the continuance. 12/27/12RP 9. The court did not ask the

testing had not occurred, and why it would take more than one month for the testing to occur. *Id.* To the extent the delay resulted from charges later added by the prosecution, such delay is not necessary just because the prosecution has changed its mind about its charges. *Berry v. State*, 93 P.3d 222, 232-33 (Wyo. 2004).

On January 17, 2013, the court denied Mr. Kissler's motion to dismiss due to the violation of his right to a speedy trial under CrR 3.3. 1/17/13RP 4-5, 11.

On January 31, 2013, trial was set to begin but the prosecutor announced there were no courtrooms. 1/31/13RP 3. The court continued the case until February 4, 2013. *Id.* at 3-4. The court did not provide any explanation of why courtrooms were unavailable or whether any efforts had been made to locate an available judge, contrary to *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 138-39.

On February 4, 2013, the prosecutor announced that the trial would begin the next day. 2/4/13RP 4. However, stand-by counsel Kibbe was unavailable because he had a trial set to begin in Kitsap County. *Id.* at 5. Mr. Kissler objected to any further continuance, and said, "I want to proceed to trial. Mr. Kibbe doesn't represent me. His

schedule shouldn't have anything to do with mine." 2/4/13RP 6. After further discussion, the court agreed to let Mr. Kissler start trial without stand-by counsel, and the trial began on the following day. *Id.* at 12.

Throughout each pretrial hearing, Mr. Kissler sought a trial to commence as soon as possible. The prosecution delayed the case, sought lengthy extensions of time without trying to accommodate Mr. Kissler's request for a speedy trial, and did not explain why it needed one month to test the drugs or the firearm essential to three of the charges when the case had been pending for four months. The court's cursory analysis of the prosecution's failure to timely prepare for trial as well as its treatment of the potential that the prosecutor could be starting trial in another case as the equivalent of actually starting another trial, when scheduled trials are routinely continued, does not satisfy the administration of justice required to continue case over the *pro se* defendant's objection.

Furthermore, the length of the December continuance was based on a vacation of stand-by counsel, even though Mr. Kissler was *pro se* and he objected to the continuance. Since Mr. Kissler's represented himself, stand-by counsel's vacation did not serve as a valid reason to further delay when Mr. Kissler expressly objected to the continuance.

c. The remedy for the speedy trial violation is dismissal.

The failure to abide by the plain terms of CrR 3.3 requires dismissal of the charge. *Saunders*, 153 Wn.App. at 221. The trial court bears the responsibility to ensure an accused person receives a timely trial under the framework of CrR 3.3 and the constitutional right to a speedy trial. By extending Mr. Kissler's trial beyond the 60 days allowed without assessing the need for the delay and merely paying lip service to the criteria of CrR 3.3(f)(2), when confronted with Mr. Kissler's express objections, the trial court violated CrR 3.3, requiring dismissal of the charges. <u>Id</u>.

- 2. Mr. Kissler did not knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waive his right to counsel when the court did not accurately explain the potential punishment he faced.
  - a. The right to counsel may be waived only when the defendant clearly understands the possible penalties he faces if convicted.

A valid and effective waiver of the right to the assistance of counsel must unequivocally demonstrate that the accused is competent, and knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waives the assistance of counsel. *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 835, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975); *State v. Silva*, 108 Wn.App. 536, 539, 31 P.3d 729

(2001); U.S. Const. amend. 6; Const. art. I, § 22. The validity of a waiver is measured by the defendant's understanding *at the time* he waives his right to counsel. *United States v. Mohawk*, 20 F.3d 1480, 1484 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994).

The knowledge and intelligent understanding that the *pro se* defendant must possess when validly waiving counsel include, at a minimum, "the nature of the charges, the statutory offenses included within them, the range of allowable punishments thereunder, possible defenses to the charges and circumstances in mitigation thereof, and all other facts essential to a broad understanding of the whole matter." *Von Moltke v. Gillies*, 332 U.S. 708, 724, 68 S. Ct. 316, 92 L. Ed. 309 (1948); *State v. Woods*, 143 Wn.2d 561, 588, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001).

It is the judge's role to "make certain" the waiver of counsel is understandingly made by conducting "a penetrating and comprehensive examination of all the circumstances." *Von Moltke*, 332 U.S. at 724. To ensure that a defendant "truly appreciates the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation," he or she must waive counsel "with an apprehension of the nature of the charges, the statutory offenses included within them, [and] the *range of allowable punishments thereunder.*" *United States v. Moskovits*, 86 F.3d 1303,

1306 (3d Cir. 1996) (quoting, inter alia, Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835 and Von Moltke, 332 U.S. at 724; emphasis added in Moskovits).

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