NO. 44589-1

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

JOEL KISSLER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Kathryn J. Nelson

No. 12-1-03177-2

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
JASON RUYF
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

- b. The Court was not required to engage in a second colloquy with defendant when there is no binding precedent requiring the trial court to engage in such a colloquy and when defendant's maximum penalty remained unchanged throughout all proceedings.

There is no law in Washington that requires a trial court to *sua sponte* reassess the validity of a **Faretta** waiver after it is executed. A court cannot therefore manifestly abuse its discretion when it refrains from periodically engaging a *pro se* defendant in post-waiver **Faretta** colloquies to verify he is still comfortable with his **Faretta** waiver. In fact, a Court's continual probing into a defendant's decision to exercise his constitutional right to proceed *pro se* could be perceived as the court unconstitutionally attempting to coerce the defendant to forego an earlier waiver and accept counsel. See **State v. Stenson**, 132 Wn.2d 668, 737, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (A court violates a defendant's constitutional rights when it refuses to honor a timely and unequivocal request to proceed without counsel); **State v. Breedlove**, 79 Wn. App. 101, 900 P.2d 586 (1995) (murder conviction reversed where trial court denied defendant's request to proceed *pro se*); **State v. Paumier**, 155 Wn. App. 673, 678–79, 230 P.3d 212 (2010) (burglary and theft convictions reversed where trial court denied defendant's request to proceed *pro se*).

Defendant erroneously claims the trial court abused its discretion by failing to abide by the problematic "substantial change in

circumstances rule" that has been unprofitably applied in a few other jurisdictions. Br.App. at 23. The rule provides that "only a substantial change in circumstances will require the [trial] court to inquire whether the defendant wishes to revoke his earlier waiver." *State v. Modica*, 136 Wn. App. 434, 445, 149 P.3d 446 (2006) citing *United States v. Fazzini*, 871 F.2d 635, 643 (7th Cir.1989). "The essential inquiry is whether circumstances have sufficiently changed since the date of the *Faretta* inquiry that the defendant can no longer be considered to have knowingly and intelligently waived the right to counsel." *U.S. v. Hantzis*, 632 F.3d 575, 581 (9th Cir.2010). Put differently, "A properly conducted *Faretta* colloquy need not be renewed in subsequent proceedings *unless intervening events substantially change the circumstances* existing at the time of the initial colloquy." *Id.* at 580–81 (emphasis added).

The rule has not been formally adopted in Washington and has been only identified as a rule used in federal courts. *Modica*, 136 Wn. App. 434 at 446. After discussing (and failing to expressly apply) the federal rule, Division One cautioned in dicta that:

[I]f every added charge against a *pro se* defendant resulted in the automatic invalidation of all prior valid waivers of counsel and created the need for a second full colloquy, the State might be hindered in its ability to bring additional charges against *pro se* defendants, and defendants might be encouraged to proceed *pro se* in order to avoid exposure to additional charges.

Modica 136 Wn. App. 434 at 453 n.7. In its own analysis of the legal landscape surrounding the rule, the Minnesota Supreme Court in *State v. Rhoads*, 813 N.W.2d 880, 887–88 (Minn.2012)¹³, observed that: "When squarely faced with the issue of whether a subsequent charge constitutes a substantial change in circumstances, courts have reached seemingly different conclusions" and that "[t]here is [...] some disagreement as to what constitutes a 'substantial change' in circumstances." *Id.* at 887.

Not only are there practical difficulties with applying the rule, the cases in which courts have found a "substantial change in circumstances" reflect more that the initial *Faretta* waiver was invalid than they reflect that a second colloquy was *required*. For instance, the court in *Schell v. U.S.*, 423 F.2d 101 (7th Cir.1970), accepted defendant's *Faretta* waiver, but erroneously informed defendant that he faced a maximum possible penalty of five years confinement. The court corrected the mistake six months later—informing defendant that he actually faced up to six years confinement—but failed to conduct a second colloquy to see if he still wanted to proceed *pro se*. The Seventh Circuit considered the defendant's mistaken belief that he faced five years instead of six a substantial change in his circumstances. *Schell*, 423 F.2d at 103; *Modica* 136 Wn. App at 446. Although the court considered this a substantial change in

¹³ One of two cases cited by defendant as support for applying the rule in the present case. Br. App. at 23.

circumstances, the second colloquy was only "required" because the court failed to correctly inform defendant of the penalty he faced during the initial *Faretta* colloquy.

Similarly, in *U.S. v. Erskine*, 355 F.3d 1161 (9th Cir.2004), the court accepted defendant's *Faretta* waiver after confirming that defendant understood his maximum possible penalty to be one year. It was later discovered that the correct maximum possible penalty was five years, and the court failed to inquire whether the defendant still wanted to proceed without counsel. The Ninth Circuit considered the defendant's mistaken belief that he faced one year instead of five a substantial change in his circumstances. *Id.* at 1170.

Finally, in *Jensen v. Hernandez*, 864 F.Supp.2d 869, 900 (Cal.2012), the court accepted defendant's *Faretta* waiver before an amended information was filed that included four additional allegations. These four allegations subjected defendant to an additional four years confinement. The Eastern District Court of California considered the addition of four years possible confinement to be a significant change in circumstances that left the petitioner without a clear understanding of the maximum penalty he faced. *Id.* at 900.

Here, unlike *Schell*, *Erskine*, and *Jensen*, defendant correctly understood the maximum possible penalty he faced upon conviction. This maximum penalty did not change with the addition of firearm enhancements on counts two, three, and five. Defendant was acting as his

own attorney and is not entitled to special consideration on appeal. *State v. Deweese*, 117 Wn.2d 369, 379, 816 P.2d 1 (1991). Even under the "substantial change in circumstances" rule, defendant's claim fails as he was informed of the correct maximum penalty when he waived his counsel and the maximum penalty did not change.

3. THE COURT WAS AUTHORIZED TO IMPOSE A FIREARM ENHANCEMENT WHERE THE JURY RETURNED A SPECIAL VERDICT THAT FOUND DEFENDANT WAS ARMED WITH A FIREARM.

a. Defendant failed to object to the trial court's instruction below pursuant to CrR 6.15(c) and has not preserved the issue for appeal.

"It is well-settled law that before error can be claimed on the basis of a jury instruction given by the trial court, an appellant must first show that an exception was taken to that instruction in the trial court. That rule is not a mere technicality." *State v. Bailey*, 114 Wn.2d 340, 345, 787 P.2d 1378 (1990); *see also State v. Smith*, 174 Wn. App. 359, 363, 298 P.3d 785 (2013) ("Generally, a party who fails to object to jury instructions in the trial court waives a claim of error on appeal."); *State v. Schaler*, 169 Wn.2d 274, 282, 236 P.3d 858 (2010). "Any objections to the instructions, as well as the grounds for the objections, must be put in the record to preserve review." *State v. Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d 58, 75–76, 292 P.3d 715 (2012). "Counsel has duty to lodge formal objections even if

instructions [were] discussed during informal hearing." *Id.* at 76 citing ***Goehle v. Fred Hutchinson Cancer Research Ctr.***, 100 Wn. App. 609, 615–17, 1 P.3d 579 (2000).

CrR 6.15(c) explains the manner for objecting to the trial court's refusal to give a requested instruction as follows:

Before instructing the jury, the court shall supply counsel with copies of the proposed numbered instructions, verdict and special finding forms. The court shall afford to counsel an opportunity in the absence of the jury to *object to* the giving of any instructions and the refusal to give a requested instruction or submission of a verdict or special finding form. *The party objecting shall state the reasons for the objection, specifying the number, paragraph, and particular part of the instruction to be given or refused.* The court shall provide counsel for each party with a copy of the instructions in their final form.

Id. (emphasis added).

"An exception to the rule that a jury instruction must be excepted to exists in the case of 'manifest error affecting a constitutional right.'" ***Bailey***, 114 Wn.2d at 347. "[T]he constitutional error exception is not intended to afford criminal defendants a means for obtaining new trials whenever they can 'identify a constitutional issue not litigated below.'" *Id.* at 348. "[P]ermitting every possible constitutional error to be raised for the first time on appeal undermines the trial process, generates unnecessary appeals, creates undesirable re-trials and is wasteful of the limited resources of prosecutors, public defenders and courts." ***State v. Lynn***, 67 Wn. App. 339, 343–44, 835 P.2d 251 (1992).

Here, defendant failed to object to Instruction #33, the same instruction he now takes issue with on appeal. Defendant fails to allege that the trial court's Instruction #33 constitutes an error of constitutional magnitude that can be raised for the first time pursuant to RAP 2.5(a)(3). Because defendant fails to carry his burden of establishing an error of constitutional magnitude, "the burden does not shift to the State to prove that the alleged error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Bertrand*, 165 Wn. App. 393, 403 n.11, 267 P.3d 511 (2011). Even if the alleged error was preserved, it is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt (argued *infra* at 30–31).

- b. Defendant's firearm sentencing enhancement is supported by the jury's special verdict finding that defendant was armed with a firearm.

"A sentence enhancement must be authorized by the jury in the form of a special verdict." *State v. Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889, 900, 225 P.3d 913 (2010). Here, defendant's unlawful possession of a controlled substance (heroin) with intent to deliver conviction (count III) and his unlawful possession of a controlled substance conviction (count V) were subject to firearm enhancements of three years, and eighteen months, respectively. RCW 9.94A.533(3)(b)-(c). The jury returned special verdicts indicating that defendant was armed with a firearm during the commission of each crime. CP 151, 152. Because defendant's firearm enhancements are supported by the jury's findings, there is no basis for an

appeal that such enhancements were outside of the court's sentencing authority.

On appeal, defendant claims that "[t]he jury's special verdict finding did not authorize the court to impose the firearm enhancement." Br.App. at 28. Defendant relies upon jury instruction #33 which states that "for purposes of the special verdict the State must prove [...] that the defendant was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime." CP 157–206. Defendant cites case law which explains, however, that it is the content of the jury's *special verdict* finding that authorizes a court to impose a sentencing enhancement, not a separate jury instruction. Br.App. at 26–27 citing *State v. Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889, 899-900, 225 P.3d 913 (2010). Where the trial courts in the consolidated cases of *Williams-Walker* improperly imposed firearm enhancements based upon a deadly weapon special verdict; here, the court imposed firearm enhancements based upon a firearm special verdict. *Id.* at 892. The jury expressly found that defendant was armed with a firearm when he committed the crimes as charged in counts three and five.

- c. Any error in Instruction #33 is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt where the alleged error did not contribute to the jury's special verdict that defendant was armed with a firearm.

"An erroneous jury instruction [...] is generally subject to a constitutional harmless error analysis." *State v. Lundy*, 162 Wn. App.

865, 871, 256 P.3d 466 (2011). "The harmless-error doctrine ... recognizes the principal that the central purpose of a criminal trial is to decide the factual question of the defendant's guilt or innocence, ... and promotes public respect for the criminal process by focusing on the underlying fairness of the trial." *Neder v. United States*, 527 U.S. 1, 18, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 144 L. Ed. 35 (1999) (citing *Delaware v. Van Arsdall*, 475 U.S. 673, 681, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1986)). "To find an error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, an appellate court must find that the alleged instructional error did not contribute to the verdict obtained." *State v. Grimes*, 165 Wn. App. 172, 187-88, 267 P.3d 454 (2011).

The alleged error in including a "deadly weapon" definitional jury instruction is harmless where the jury was provided with the essential components of the "firearm" definitional instruction despite its omission.¹⁴ The omitted instruction, WPIC 2.10.01 "Firearm–Definition for Sentence Enhancement–Special Verdict," is composed of three primary components: (1) a requirement that the jury must find defendant was armed with a firearm; (2) a definition of what it means to be "armed"; and

¹⁴ Because the alleged error occurred before the jury verdicts were reached (as defendant is not challenging the special verdict form itself, in which case the error would occur post-verdict), the harmless error doctrine is not barred. See *Williams-Walker*, 167 Wn.2d 889 at 901. See also *State v. Reyes-Brooks*, 165 Wn. App. 193, 202, 267 P.3d 465 (2011) ("[W]hen a trial court imposes an enhanced sentence not supported by facts found by the jury with its *special verdict*, the resulting error can never be harmless" (emphasis added)).

(3) a definition of "firearm."¹⁵ *Id.* The instruction that was provided in the present case also contains three primary components: (1) a requirement that the jury must find defendant was armed with a deadly weapon; (2) a definition of what it means to be "armed"; and (3) a definition that any firearm is a deadly weapon.¹⁶ CP 157–206. Here, the jury was still required to find that defendant was armed with a firearm. This is most evident from the special verdict form itself which asks, "Was the defendant [...] armed with a *firearm* at the time of the commission of the crime?" CP 151 (emphasis added). Next, the jury received a definition for what it meant to be "armed." The definition of "armed" is identical in both the deadly weapon and the firearm special verdict definitional instructions (with each referring to "deadly weapon" or "firearm" throughout). Finally, the jury was provided with a definition of "firearm" in instruction #25. The "firearm" definition in Instruction #25 is identical to the definition in the omitted instruction.¹⁷

In sum, because each of the three components of the "firearm" definitional instruction were given to the jury, any harm from using the words "deadly weapon" instead of "firearm" in Instruction #33 is harmless. The jury was properly instructed on what it was required to find to return its special verdict.

¹⁵ WPIC 2.10.01 is included as "Appendix B."

¹⁶ This instruction follows WPIC 2.07.02, included as "Appendix C."

¹⁷ Defendant stipulated to the operability of the firearm and admitted at trial that he possessed a firearm. CP 83–84; 3 RP 226.

Furthermore, the alleged error in the present case is much less egregious than other cases in which entire elements were missing from jury instructions but courts nonetheless found the errors to be harmless. See *State v. Berube*, 150 Wn.2d 498, 79 P.3d 1144 (2003) (harmless error to omit general knowledge element of accomplice liability); *State v. Jones*, 117 Wn. App. 221, 228–29, 70 P.3d 141 (2003) (harmless error to omit knowledge element from to-convict instruction for unlawful possession of a firearm charge); *State v. Ballew*, 167 Wn. App. 359, 367–68, 272 P.3d 925 (2012) (harmless error to omit component of "true threat" in jury instruction). Here, there are no missing elements to any of the charged crimes. Any error in mentioning "deadly weapon" is harmless for the reasons listed above.

4. A REMAND IS REQUIRED FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO EITHER AMEND THE COMMUNITY CUSTODY TERM OR RESENTENCE DEFENDANT CONSISTENT WITH RCW 9.94A.701(9).